1983

The State of Utah v. Gary T. Coles : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Gary T. Coles, appeals from a verdict of guilty in a criminal proceeding in which he was charged with the offense of Driving Under the Influence, a Class B Misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code Annotated §41-6-44 (1953 as amended), in the Second Circuit Court in and for Rich County, State of Utah, the Honorable Ted S. Perry, Judge presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant was tried in a non-jury trial on August 11, 1982, in the Second Circuit Court and was found guilty of

the offense of Driving Under the Influence, and sentenced on September 28, 1982, to serve sixty days in the Rich County Jail and pay a fine of Two Hundred Ninety-Nine Dollars (\$299). That conviction was appealed to and affirmed by the First Judicial District Court in and for Rich County, State of Utah.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the judgment and conviction rendered against him reversed and have the case remanded to the Second Circuit Court in and for Rich County for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 13, 1982, the appellant, Gary T. Coles, was arraigned in the Second Circuit Court in Rich County, Utah.¹ At that hearing he requested the opportunity to retain and consult with counsel.² The Court gave him time to do that and ordered him to appear in court on July 27, 1982.³ On that date the appellant appeared in court, entered a plea of not guilty and informed the Court that he would be represented by Mr. Ron Yengich from Salt Lake City, Utah.⁴ The Court informed the appellant that his trial was scheduled for August 24, 1982, at 9:30 a.m., and if he desired a jury a written demand would have to be filed prior to that date.⁵

On August 24, 1982, the case was called for trial.⁶

-
1. See: Transcript of Proceedings held on July 13, 1982.
 2. Ibid.
 3. Ibid.
 4. See: Transcript of Proceedings held on July 27, 1982.
 5. Ibid.
 6. See: Transcript of Proceedings held on August 24, 1982 at p. 3.

neither the defendant nor his counsel of record were present.⁷ However, pursuant to a filing of a demand for a jury trial a jury venire was present, but was dismissed by the Court.⁸ The Court ordered that the trial proceed without the defendant being present.⁹ A highway patrol trooper testified that he stopped the defendant's automobile for a traffic violation: speeding.¹⁰ The trooper observed that the defendant had glassy, bloodshot eyes, staggered or wobbled as he walked and had an odor of alcoholic beverages upon him.¹¹ Field tests were requested, which the trooper felt that the defendant did not pass,¹² and a breathalyzer test was administered.¹³ Testimony was also admitted that indicated that the breathalyzer machine was working properly before and after the administration of the test in question,¹⁴ and a sample taken from the batch of ampules used in the test in question had the proper chemicals in it.¹⁵

The defendant-appellant appeared at sentencing with Mr. Yenglich's law partner.¹⁶ At that time the Court was informed that counsel had instructed the defendant not to appear for trial because a jury demand had been filed which would put the case

See: Transcript of Proceedings held on August 24, 1982 at p. 3.
1. Ibid., at p. 3.
2. Ibid., at p. 3.
3. Ibid., at p. 5.
4. Ibid., at p. 7.
5. Ibid., at pp. 7-9.
6. Ibid., at pp. 11-15.
7. Ibid., at pp. 17-18.
8. Ibid., at pp. 17-18.
9. See: Transcript of Proceedings held on September 28, 1982, at p. 2.

on a different calendar.¹⁷ Affidavits were submitted which indicated that Mr. Yengich was not aware that a jury trial would be held on the same day as a bench trial and he was not so informed by the Court and that Mr. Yengich's secretary made attempts to telephone the court clerk to confirm a trial date and her calls were not returned.¹⁸

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT DID NOT VOLUNTARILY ABSENT HIMSELF FROM TRIAL AFTER RECEIVING NOTICE. THUS, THE COURT COMMITTED ERROR BY TRYING HIM IN HIS ABSENCE IN VIOLATION OF HIS RIGHT TO DEFEND HIMSELF IN PERSON.

The trial in this case was held in the absence of the defendant. Such a procedure violated the defendant-appellant's right to confrontation of witnesses and due process of law as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Constitution of Utah. The applicable part of Article I, Section 12 provides: "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel."¹⁹ The exceptions to the right are described in both the case law and by statute. The statutory exceptions are described in Utah Code Annotated §77-35-17(a) (1953 as amended). It states:

In all cases the defendant shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel. The defendant shall be personally present at the trial.

17. See Transcript of Proceedings held on September 28, 1982, at pp. 2-4.

18. Ibid, at p. 3.

19. Utah Code Annotated §77-1-6(1)(a) (1953 as amended) provides the same protection.

with the following exceptions:

(1) In prosecutions of misdemeanors and infractions, defendant may consent in writing to trial in his absence;

(2) In prosecutions for offenses not punishable by death, the defendant's voluntary absence from the trial after notice to defendant of the time for trial shall not prevent the case from being tried and a verdict or judgment entered therein shall have the same effect as if the defendant had been present; and

(3) The court may exclude or excuse a defendant from trial for good cause shown which may include tumultuous, riotous, or obstreperous conduct.

Upon application of the prosecution, the court may require the personal attendance of the defendant at trial. [Emphasis added.]

It is important to note that the first portion of this statute is mandatory in requiring the attendance of the defendant. In this case there was no written consent to hold the trial in the defendant-appellant's absence. Nor was it the situation where the defendant appeared and the Court ordered him removed from the courtroom because of his behavior. The only applicable exception is that he voluntarily absented himself after receiving notice of the trial date.

Taking the notice first, there is no question that the appellant was informed that his trial date was to be August 24, 1982. However, there is also no question that his attorney instructed him that trial would not be held on that date, and the appellant would be notified by his attorney of when the trial date would be. Such reliance is in accordance with the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rule 3, Utah Code Annotated § 15-3(b) (1953 as amended), provides:

Whenever service is required to be made upon a party represented by an attorney, the service shall be made upon the attorney, unless service upon the

party himself is ordered by the court. Service upon the attorney or party shall be made in the manner provided in civil actions.

At the arraignment the Circuit Court Judge did not enter an order requiring that the defendant-appellant be personally notified of any change in the trial date or be personally served with any motions. At that hearing the Court was provided with the name of the appellant's attorney. However, in obvious violation of this rule, a notice of the trial date was not provided to Mr. Yengich.²⁰ Since the appellant was acting on the advice of counsel and additionally, counsel was not properly notified of the trial date, the State has not shown that the appellant was given notice of the trial date. Consequently, it was improper to try the appellant in his absence.

Under the circumstances of this case there is also no showing that the appellant's absence from trial was voluntary. Black's Law Dictionary defines the word "voluntary" as follows:

Unconstrained by interference; unimpelled by another's influence; spontaneous; acting of oneself. Done by design or intention, purpose, intended. Proceeding from the free and unrestrained will of the person. Produced in or by an act of choice. Resulting from choosing. The word, especially in statutes, often implies knowledge of essential facts.

In one case the Supreme Court of Utah has held that the defendant did voluntarily absent himself from the trial. State v. Myers, 29 Ut.2d 254, 508 P.2d 41 (1973). In that case the defendant was charged with forgery. The State presented

20. See Affidavit of Counsel.

his evidence on the first day of trial, at which the defendant
was in attendance. The defendant requested a six-day continuance
to bring witnesses into Utah from out-of-state. The trial court
granted the motion. On the day that the trial was to recommence
the defendant's attorney was present, but neither the defendant
nor his witness appeared. The Court denied a motion by the de-
fense for a mistrial and ordered defense counsel to proceed.
The Supreme Court of Utah held that the defendant did have a
right to be present for trial, but what occurred in that case
was that he was attempting to gain an advantage in a new trial
by refusing to appear. The holding in that case is consistent
with the definition of voluntary, i.e., that an act be done on
one's own volition with a design or motive underlying it.

In this case the appellant had nothing to gain by
failing to appear. At best a warrant would be issued for his
arrest, and the worst, in fact, occurred: a trial being held
where he was not present to defend himself. Likewise, the
record shows that the failure to appear was not an act done by
the appellant on his own volition. His attorney had instructed
him that he need not appear on the date he was told that his
trial would be held. Consequently, there is no showing that
the appellant's absence at trial was voluntary, and holding the
trial in his absence violated his rights as guaranteed by the
Constitution of the United States and the State of Utah.

There is no question that holding the trial in the
absence of the defendant-appellant and his counsel resulted in
the justice requiring reversal of the conviction and judgment.

In the first place, because neither the defendant nor his counsel were present the trial court dismissed the jury. (Tr. 8-24-82, p. 3.) Thus, the State needed only to convince one rather than four persons of the defendant-appellant's guilt. More importantly, the appellant was precluded from presenting a defense, both through the presentation of evidence and by cross examination of the State's witnesses. In Pointer v. Texas, 320 U.S. 400 (1965), the Supreme Court stated, ". . . probably no one, certainly no one experienced in the trial of lawsuits, would deny the value of cross examination in exposing falsehood and bringing out the truth in the trial of a criminal case." 320 U.S. at 404. Cross examination of the arresting officer reasonably may have shown that the appellant's actions were not the result of intoxication or that certain other actions of the appellant were inconsistent with intoxication. Likewise, cross examination of the breathalyzer maintenance officer could reasonably have shown malfunctions or problems with that machine, thus raising doubts as to the reliability of the breathalyzer results.

Consequently, there are reasons to believe that had the appellant or counsel been present at trial the result would have been different. The error here cannot be said to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt; thus requiring reversal of the judgment and conviction and an order for a new trial. Chapman v. California 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

POINT II

THE TRIAL IN ABSENTIA DENIED THE APPELLANT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

The Sixth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States provides in part: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the assistance of counsel for his defense." That portion of the Sixth Amendment was made applicable to the States by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963). Article I, Section 12 of the Constitution of Utah provides a similar protection. With respect to misdemeanor prosecutions the Supreme Court of the United States has required that counsel be appointed where a misdemeanor will result in actual imprisonment. Scott v. Illinois, 440 U.S. 367 (1979); Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972). The protection afforded by the Utah statutes is even broader. Utah Code Annotated §77-32-1 (1953 as amended) requires appointment of counsel whenever a defendant "faces the possibility of the deprivation of his liberty or other serious criminal sanction." In this case a sixty day jail sentence was imposed. (Tr. 9-28-71, p. 8.) Clearly, the defendant-appellant was entitled to be represented by counsel at his trial, and he had informed the court at his initial appearance not only that he desired to have counsel, but also that he had in fact retained counsel. (Tr. 9-28-71, pp. 2-3.)

Since the appellant was entitled to effective assistance of counsel, the question arises if there was State action

involved in convicting him in the absence of his retained counsel. In Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335 (1980), this issue was addressed. The court there reasoned that in a criminal trial the State initiates the proceeding and that is an action of the State within the meaning of the Fourteenth Amendment. The court went on to state with respect to ineffective retained counsel, "When a state obtains a criminal conviction through such a trial, it is the state that unconstitutionally deprives the defendant of his liberty." 446 U.S. 343.

Counsel's failure to appear at trial and the Court's proceeding in his absence denied the appellant of his right to counsel. In Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), the court discussed some of the functions an attorney plays in a criminal trial, stating:

The right to be heard would be, in many cases, of little avail if it did not comprehend the right to be heard by counsel. Even the intelligent and educated layman has small and sometimes no skill in the science of law. If charged with crime, he is incapable, generally, of determining for himself whether the indictment is good or bad. He is unfamiliar with the rules of evidence. Left without the aid of counsel he may be put on trial without a proper charge, and convicted upon incompetent evidence, or evidence irrelevant to the issue or otherwise inadmissible. He lacks both the skill and knowledge adequately to prepare his defense, even though he have a perfect one. He requires the guiding hand of counsel at every step in the proceedings against him. Without it, though he be not guilty, he faces the danger of conviction because he does not know how to establish his innocence.

In Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475 (1978), the Supreme Court

... that defendants with conflicting interests who were represented by a single attorney were denied their right to effective assistance of counsel. Other functions that counsel provides were described. There the court noted that a denial of the right to effective assistance of counsel affects plea negotiations, the admission of evidence and arguments at sentencing. In that case the court held that once a denial of the right to counsel has been demonstrated there is no need to show prejudice and a new trial is automatic. This was because when a defendant is denied his right to counsel it usually involves actions not taken. Assessing the impact on the trial of actions not taken by counsel is a virtual impossibility.

In this case counsel did not even appear at trial. Consequently, none of the normal functions of counsel at trial were undertaken by anybody. There can be no question that the appellant was denied his right to effective assistance of counsel at trial. Consequently, reversal of the judgment and conviction are automatic and a new trial should be ordered.