1983

## The State of Utah v. Gary T. Coles : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant, Gary T. Coles, appeals his conviction for Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44 (1981).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried in absentia in a non-jury trial on August 24, 1982 in the Second Circuit Court in and for Rich County, State of Utah, and was found guilty of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol by the Honorable Ted S. Perry. Appellant was sentenced on September 28, 1982 to serve 60 days in the Rich County Jail and was fined \$299. On appeal to the First Judicial District Court in and for Rich County, State of Utah, the conviction was affirmed.

STATE OF NEW YORK

Department of Transportation  
Traffic Bureau  
Traffic Report No. \_\_\_\_\_  
Date of Report \_\_\_\_\_  
Report Made at \_\_\_\_\_  
Report Made by \_\_\_\_\_  
Subject: \_\_\_\_\_  
Offense: \_\_\_\_\_  
Driver: \_\_\_\_\_  
Vehicle: \_\_\_\_\_  
Location: \_\_\_\_\_  
Time: \_\_\_\_\_  
Weather: \_\_\_\_\_  
Road Conditions: \_\_\_\_\_  
Witnesses: \_\_\_\_\_  
Remarks: \_\_\_\_\_

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of July 17, 1963, State Trooper Edward Slawuskie stopped appellant's car for speeding on State Route 16 in West County (TT, 4-1-64). Appellant pulled to a stop at the side of the road, and left his automobile, and walked around to the back of the car as Slawuskie pulled up behind him. Slawuskie turned over the PA system to get back in his vehicle. Appellant, in response, waved his arms over his head, then stated he would walk back towards his car, as instructed, only to turn around, and start walking back towards Slawuskie. Slawuskie recalled at trial that he had to stop the time that appellant must have been intoxicated. There

Slawuskie approached appellant and immediately noticed that appellant's eyes were "bloodshot and glassy". He also noticed the smell of alcohol on appellant's breath. At Officer Slawuskie's request, appellant performed three field sobriety tests. When appellant stood with feet together, hands at his side, eyes closed, and head

1 "TT." refers to the trial transcript. "AT." refers to the arraignment transcript. "ST." refers to the sentencing transcript.

of "the wheel and wheeled in small circles" (TT. 7), when appellant attempted to walk heel-to-heel, "he stumbled and fell on his back," and "he was very unsteady. He kept falling over." Finally, appellant was unable to talk the road with the examiner at either end (TT. 8-9).

Officer Slagavskie arrested appellant and read his Miranda rights (TT. 10). Appellant stated that he understood these rights and agreed to answer questions (TT. 11). Appellant acknowledged that he had been operating the vehicle. Appellant also admitted that he had been drinking beer and further stated that his friends mixed the beer "pretty strong" (TT. 14-15).

Appellant agreed to submit to a breathalyzer test (TT. 16). Officer Slagavskie, who is a certified breathalyzer tester, administered the test, following the breathalyzer national checklist (TT. 10-13). The test revealed that appellant had a blood alcohol level of .13 (ST. 6; 9. 30). The breathalyzer device used had been checked by Officer Todd Peterson of the Utah Highway Patrol prior to this test on July 2, 1992 and subsequent to this test on July 5, 1992. In these inspections it was determined that the machine was in good working condition (TT. 17).

Appellant's arraignment hearing, which had been adjourned to permit appellant to retain counsel, was held on July 5, 1992 in the Circuit Court of Rich County, State of Utah, and appellant was charged with Driving Under the



Influence of Alcohol (AT. 2). Appellant plead "Not Guilty" and told the court he had retained Ronald Yengich as counsel. The court informed appellant that trial would be held the morning of August 24, 1982 and instructed appellant to so notify his attorney (AT. 2).

Appellant notified his attorney, who then filed a notice of appearance of counsel and a demand for jury trial (ST. 3-5; R. 6-7). Appellant's counsel assumed that the trial would then be removed from a bench calander and placed on a jury trial calander, changing the trial date. However, no such change was made, and consequently neither appellant nor his counsel appeared at the August 24, 1982 trial (TT. 3).

Because appellant had not given any reason for his non-appearance, the court, in accordance with Utah Code Ann., § 77-35-17(a)(2) (1982), discharged the jury and tried appellant in absentia (TT. 3). The court found appellant guilty of Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol and issued a bench warrant (TT. 19).

Appellant was notified by a letter dated August 24, 1982 that he had been tried in absentia and found guilty (ST. 3; R. 11). On August 27, 1982 appellant filed a Motion to Set Aside Judgment and Recall Bench Warrant, arguing that counsel, after filing an Appearance of Counsel and Jury Demand, had not been informed by the court that the jury trial had been scheduled for August 24, 1982 (R. 12). The court denied the motion, ruling that appellant at the July 27, 1982 arraignment

appellant had received personal notice of the date and time set for trial and been advised that he should inform his counsel of that date (R. 13).

Appellant appeared with counsel John O'Connell, law partner of appellant's counsel Ronald Yengich, at the September 28, 1982 sentencing hearing and renewed his motion to set aside the judgment (ST. 2-4). O'Connell admitted that appellant had told Yengich of the August 24, 1982 trial date, but said that Yengich had advised appellant that a new date would be set because a Jury Demand had been filed (ST. 5). O'Connell argued that appellant should not be deprived of his right to defend himself merely because of counsel's mistakes and that a new trial should be ordered. The court again denied the motion, ruling that even if appellant's absence was justified, appellant still had not discharged his burden of establishing that he would present a substantial defense (ST. 6-7). The court then sentenced appellant to serve 60 days in the Rich County Jail and pay a fine of \$299 (ST. 8).

On appeal, the First District Court of Rich County affirmed the trial court (R. 53-54). The District Court held that appellant's motion to set aside the judgment for failure to receive notice of the trial was properly denied inasmuch as the record established that appellant and counsel in fact did have notice of trial. The District Court further ruled that the other issues raised by appellant, the right of a defendant to be present and represented by counsel at trial, were

"without merit" because they were raised for the first time on appeal. In any event, the District Court stated, appellant had every opportunity to be present and be represented by counsel (R. 53-54).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY TRIED APPELLANT IN HIS ABSENCE SINCE HE WAS VOLUNTARILY ABSENT AFTER HAVING RECEIVED NOTICE OF THE TIME FOR TRIAL.

Appellant in his brief contends that the trial court committed error by trying him in his absence. While, as appellant notes, a defendant does have an affirmative right "to appear and defend in person and by counsel," Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-17(a) (1982), that right is not absolute. State v. Glenn, Utah, 656 P.2d 990 (1982); State v. Myers, 29 Utah 2d 254, 508 P.2d 41 (1973). Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-17(a)(2) provides:

In prosecutions for offenses not punishable by death, the defendant's voluntary absence from the trial after notice to defendant of the time for trial shall not prevent the case from being tried and a verdict or judgment entered therein shall have the same effect as if defendant had been present.<sup>2</sup>

(Emphasis added).

---

<sup>2</sup> Subsections (1) and (3) of Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-17(a) describe other exceptions not pertinent to the case at bar.

Appellant was charged with Driving Under the Influence of Alcohol, a class B misdemeanor (R. 2). This offense is not punishable by death. Utah Code Ann. § 77-6-44(d). Thus, if appellant had received notice of the time set for trial and had voluntarily absented himself from trial, then it was proper for the trial court to proceed with the trial in appellant's absence in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-17(a)(2).

Appellant in his brief even admits that he had been notified as to the time for trial (Appellant's brief p.5). However, appellant contends that he should have been notified a second time by service on his retained counsel as to a new trial date. This contention is based on two assumptions: first, that the trial date would be rescheduled merely by appellant's filing of a Jury Demand; and second, that the trial court was required to serve written notice of the expected new trial date on appellant's counsel in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-3 (1982).

Neither assumption has merit. The trial court in no wise indicated to appellant or appellant's counsel that the filing of a Jury Demand would result in the rescheduling of the trial, nor is this result required by statute. Appellant's argument that such is the practice in other districts (ST. 3, 5) does not excuse appellant's absence from trial. In the absence of notice to the contrary, appellant should have assumed that the trial would proceed on the date

originally scheduled.

Section 77-35-3 1991 provides that a written notice is required to be served on a party before by an attorney, such service shall be made on the party. This requirement, however, is inapplicable to the attorney since Section 77-35-17 a 1 does not require written notice to be served on the defendant; it merely states that a party for the trial to proceed in the defendant's absence, the defendant must have been notified of the time and place for trial. Appellant admits to having been so notified. Appellant's (p. 5). Therefore, the notice requirement of section 77-35-17 a 1 was satisfied.

Appellant next contends that he was absent from trial involuntarily. Courts generally have ruled that a defendant's absence was involuntary only in cases where the defendant was in custody, Quadrante v. State, 438 S.W.2d 909 Cir. 1971, 111, St. Louis v. Walker, 311 S.W.2d 471 Ct. App. 1958, unaware of the trial date, Butcher v. Commonwealth, 276 S.W.2d 437 Ky. 1955, he involuntarily prevented from being present at trial. In the case at hand appellant was not prevented from being present at the trial and he has offered no evidence to demonstrate that his absence was other than voluntary. State v. Glenn, supra, 416 S.W.2d 991.

Appellant attempts to construe this finding in State v. Myers, supra, to mean that a defendant's

from trial is voluntary only if done in an attempt to gain an advantage. Although the rule espoused in Myers, permitting a waiver of the right to be present at trial by a defendant's voluntary absence, is designed to prevent the manipulation of courts by a cunning defendant, the opinion in Myers cannot be fairly read to require a finding that the defendant's absence was mischievously motivated before it can be determined that such absence was voluntary. Significantly, this Court in State v. Glenny, supra, recently ruled that the defendant's absence was voluntary even though "no evidence suggests that defendant's absence was used as a means of obtaining a favorable advantage for either side." Id. at 992.

Appellant in his brief also claims that his absence was not voluntary because he was simply following the advice of counsel. Appellant does not claim that counsel prevented his appearance or otherwise coerced him. Counsel merely told appellant incorrectly that the trial date would be changed. Appellant voluntarily acted on that information. In any event, appellant's acting on counsel's advice should be deemed voluntary. An entry of a plea of guilty on the advice of counsel is presumed voluntary and intelligent. Guglielmetti v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d 341, 496 P.2d 261 (1972); State v. Mills, Utah, 641 P.2d 119 (1982); Moxley v. Morris, Utah, 655 P.2d 640 (1982). By analogy, therefore, the absence of a defendant who has relied on counsel's statements should also be presumed voluntary.

Finally, appellant was not prejudiced by being tried in absentia because the evidence of his guilt was overwhelming: Patrolman Slagavskie testified that he observed appellant driving his vehicle at an excessive speed (TT. 4-5); appellant admitted driving the vehicle (TT. 14-15); appellant failed three field sobriety tests (TT. 7-9); appellant had a blood alcohol level of .13 (ST. 6; R. 30); and appellant admitted that he had been out drinking with friends and that they mixed the drinks "pretty strong" (TT. 14-15). Because of the strength of the state's case, there is no sufficient likelihood that the result would have been different had appellant been present at trial. Therefore, the conviction should not be disturbed. State v. Eaton, Utah, 569 P.2d 1114, 1116 (1977); Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 254 (1969).

## POINT II

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

A. APPELLANT CANNOT RAISE THIS ISSUE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

It is well settled in Utah that a party cannot raise an issue for the first time on appeal absent exceptional circumstances. Wagner v. Olsen, 25 Utah 2d 366, 482 P.2d 7 (1971); State v. Steggell, Utah, 660 P.2d 252 (1983).

At the sentencing hearing appellant complained that the trial court erred in proceeding in absentia because

counsel had not been served with notice (ST. 2-7). Appellant claimed he had been denied the right to counsel for the first time on appeal to the First District Court of Rich County, which ruled that the denial of the right to counsel issue was "without merit" because it had not been raised at trial (R. 53-54).

Because appellant has advanced no exceptional circumstances warranting an exception to this rule, appellant should not be allowed to raise this issue on appeal.

B. APPELLANT'S TRIAL IN ABSENTIA  
RESULTING FROM THE VOLUNTARY ABSENCE  
OF APPELLANT AND HIS COUNSEL WAS NOT  
A DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO  
COUNSEL.

Assuming arguendo that this issue is properly before the Court, appellant was not denied the right to counsel when the trial was held in his absence.

Appellant's July 13, 1982 arraignment hearing had been continued so that appellant could retain counsel (AT. 2). Appellant informed the trial court at his arraignment that he had retained Mr. Ronald Yengich as counsel (AT. 2). Mr. Yengich subsequently filed an Appearance of Counsel (R. 6).

Although appellant claims that he failed to appear at trial in reliance on counsel's mistaken assumption that the trial time would be changed, appellant does not contend that counsel was ineffective, and, in fact, appellant cannot so claim because he continues to employ the same counsel.



Appellant had every opportunity to be present and be represented by counsel at trial. Significantly, appellant cites no cases supporting the proposition that a defendant be denied the right to counsel by the voluntary absence of defendant and his counsel. On the other hand, this Court in other cases involving a defendant's voluntary absence from trial has held that " a defendant cannot by his voluntary absence invalidate the proceedings." State v. Aikers, 87 Utah 507, 7 P.2d 1052 (1935); State v. Ross, Utah, 655 P.2d 641 (1982).

Therefore, appellant was not denied his right to counsel, and the judgment appealed from should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

The trial court properly proceeded with the trial in absentia because appellant had received notice of the time set for trial and was voluntarily absent.

Appellant cannot raise the issue of denial of right to counsel for the first time on appeal. In any event, appellant retained counsel and had every opportunity to be represented by him at trial.

Therefore, the judgment below should be affirmed.